RECEIVED

May 20 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

IN THE COURT'S ORIGINAL JURISDICTION

Case No. 2026-000713

(Associated Trial Court) Case No. 2021-CP-25-00392  
Honorable R. Keith Kelly, presiding

Renee S. Beach, Phillip Beach, Robin Beach, Savannah Tuten, and Seth Tuten, .....  
Plaintiffs,

Gregory M. Parker, Gregory M. Parker, Inc. d/b/a Parker's Corporation, Blake Greco,  
Jason D'Cruz, Vicky Ward, Max Fratoddi, Henry Rosado, and Private Investigation  
Services Group, LLC, .....  
Defendants.

Of Whom,

Gregg Roman and Gravitas Synergy Solutions, LLC, .....  
Petitioners,

v.

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- 1) Whether the Court should exercise its original jurisdiction, pursuant to Rule 245, SCACR and the South Carolina Constitution, to consider this matter concerning the imminent release of a newsgatherer's sources and methods, in violation of a conditional privilege existing in state law?
  
- 2) Whether this Court should issue a writ of injunction and protective order to stop irreparable harm and uphold the asserted conditional privilege of the Petitioners?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 1, 2025, Tabor Vaux, Esquire, counsel for Plaintiffs executed a subpoena seeking production of financial records residing at PNC Bank in the “name of Gregg Roman and/or Gregg Roman ... and/or Gravitas Synergy Solutions LLC.” After service of this subpoena upon PNC Bank, Petitioners Gregg Roman and Gravitas Synergy Solutions LLC filed and served a motion on May 15, 2025, to quash and for a protective order concerning the Vaux subpoena. Exhibit A. The motion to quash attached the affidavit of Gregg Roman and included the Vaux subpoena as an exhibit. *See Id.* The motion asserted, among other things, a privilege against disclosure of information obtained during the newsgathering process, as recognized by S.C. Code Ann. §19-11-100(A). *Id.* Roman’s affidavit in support of the motion identified himself as a journalist and said the financial records of his (and Gravitas) at PNC would “reveal my network of sources and areas of investigation.” Further, Roman indicated in his affidavit that “[d]isclosure of this highly personal and proprietary financial information would severely impact his ability to cultivate investigations and gather news for publication.” *Id.* at

On February 5, 2026, Respondent issued a Form 4 Order denying Petitioner’s Motion to Quash. Exhibit B 3-4. Respondent’s order provided that a hearing on Respondent’s motion to quash occurred on November 26, 2025, and that “[p]resent and appearing at the hearing were counsel for all parties and counsel for Third Party Greg (sic.) Romans’ and Gravitas Synergy Solutions.” *Id.* at 4. Respondent’s order denying Petitioner’s motion to quash finishes by saying “[a]fter consideration of the filings of the parties, the pleadings, and the arguments presented by counsel at the hearing, the Court respectfully denies” Petitioner’s motion “because this Court finds that good cause has not been shown.” *Id.*

On February 11, 2026, Petitioners filed and served their motion to reconsider, pursuant to Rules 6 and 59, SCRCPC, Respondent's order denying the motion to quash on several grounds, including (a) the Court's consideration of proposed deposition testimony was irrelevant to Petitioner's motion, (b) counsel for Petitioners were not present at the November 26, 2026 hearing, (c) no notice of the November 2025 motion hearing was provided to Petitioners or their counsel, (d) no "arguments" were "presented by counsel" (Exhibit B at 4) for Petitioners and the public index only contained Petitioner's motion and affidavit, and (e) that Respondent's February 5 Order failed to indicate findings of fact or conclusions of law as to how good cause was not shown, conversely, how the privilege identified in S.C. Code Ann. § 19-11-100(B) was overcome. Exhibit C. When filing the motion to reconsider, Petitioners requested a hearing on their motion to reconsider, via the e-filing system.

On March 16, 2026, Respondent issued a Form 4 Order denying the motion to reconsider. Exhibit D. Respondent provided in the Court's order that "[i]n lieu of oral arguments, the parties submitted filings and briefs in support of their respective positions." *Id.* at 1. The order denying Petitioner's motion to reconsider provides that the motion does not present any newly discovered evidence or manifest errors of law and that "after considering the documents of record, the Motion, and reviewing the arguments of counsel, the Court finds that the Court's order is sufficient and the Motion should be denied." *Id.*

The petition to this Court followed thereafter with the filing of Petitioners' petition for writ of injunction with exhibits, complaint and letter seeking temporary injunctive relief on March 20, 2026. On the same day, this Court issued its order agreeing to hear this matter in its original jurisdiction, provided for Respondents to serve and file and answer, and granted a temporary

injunction for thirty days. Respondents timely served their answer on March 30, 2026 and Petitioners timely served their reply on April 2, 2026. Thereafter Petitioners on April 17, 2026 sought an extension of the temporary injunction via letter filed with the Court. On April 20, 2026, the Court granted the extension and continued the “temporary injunction pending this Court’s final decision in this matter.” This Court’s order further required Petitioners serve and file a brief addressing the issues in this matter within thirty days of it and for Respondents brief to following within thirty days of Petitioners’ filing.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

### **A. Petitioner Roman's Status as a Journalist**

Petitioner Gregg Roman (hereafter "Roman") is an investigative journalist and policy analyst who has been engaged in news gathering and dissemination activities for over a decade. He serves as Executive Director of the Middle East Forum ("MEF"), a policy research organization that publishes original research and analysis through multiple platforms, including the Middle East Quarterly (a peer-reviewed journal), MEF monographs and books, and regular commentary in national and international media outlets. R. pp. \_\_\_; Aff. of Gregg Roman ¶¶ 3–6.

Roman makes over 300 annual media appearances on major television and radio networks as a security analyst, covering issues of national security, counterterrorism, and Middle East policy. He has worked on investigative projects with Discovery Channel and maintains confidential source relationships in conflict zones and sensitive national security contexts. R. pp. \_\_\_; Aff. of Gregg Roman ¶¶ 7–9.

Roman's supplemental Affidavit, filed in this Court's original jurisdiction proceeding and attached to his May 13, 2026 Response in the circuit court (Roman Resp., Ex. B), provides significantly greater detail about the nature and scope of his journalistic activities. Roman attests that his career in investigative journalism was profoundly shaped by the kidnapping and beheading of American journalist Steven Sotloff, a close personal friend, by Islamic State militants in 2014—an event that instilled in Roman a deep understanding of the life-and-death stakes of source protection. R. p. \_\_\_; Roman Resp., Ex. B (Aff. of Gregg Roman ¶ 4).

Roman's Affidavit details four major investigative undertakings that demonstrate the depth and significance of his journalistic work: (1) an investigation into underground networks facilitating the movement of people and supplies into and out of Syria; (2) compilation of a dossier on the use of chemical weapons in Syria; (3) a multi-year investigation into terrorism financing that led to the termination of approximately three billion dollars in United States government grants from the State Department and USAID; and (4) an investigation known as the "Antisemitism Laundromat," which exposed covert influence operations. R. p. \_\_\_; Roman Resp., Ex. B (Aff. of Gregg Roman ¶ 5).) Each of these investigations required Roman to develop and maintain confidential source relationships—relationships that would be jeopardized by the compelled production of financial records revealing payments, travel patterns, and investigative expenditures.

Roman further attests that he has been involved in work with the Iranian opposition, including the distribution of over 470 Starlink satellite internet terminals to activists inside Iran—work that places both Roman and his contacts at risk from the Iranian regime. R. pp. \_\_\_; Roman Resp., Ex. B (Aff. of Gregg Roman ¶ 6). Roman has also testified before the United States Congress and the Israeli Knesset on matters of national security and counterterrorism, further establishing his role as a journalist and policy expert engaged in matters of significant public concern. R. pp. \_\_\_; Roman Resp., Ex. B (Aff. of Gregg Roman ¶ 14).

Petitioner Gravitas Synergy Solutions LLC (hereafter "GSS") is a business entity through which Roman conducts his journalistic and professional activities. GSS maintains binding non-disclosure agreements with all clients and vendors. The financial records sought by the subpoena would reveal the identities of GSS's clients, the nature and scope of engagements, fee

arrangements, and the timing and nature of investigative activities conducted on their behalf—many of which involve sensitive international matters where confidentiality is essential. Disclosure would breach these contractual obligations and compromise the confidential relationships upon which Roman’s work depends. R. pp. \_\_\_; Aff. of Gregg Roman ¶¶ 10–11; Roman Resp., Ex. B (Aff. of Gregg Roman ¶ 8).

### **B. The PNC Bank Subpoena**

The subpoena at issue is directed not to Petitioners but to their bank—PNC Bank—and demands wholesale production of "any and all financial account records and statements" for a period exceeding six years. The categories demanded include: (a) account opening documents and signature cards; (b) power of attorney documents; (c) monthly statements; (d) front and back copies of all cancelled checks; (e) deposit tickets and checks in deposit; (f) withdrawal tickets and cashier’s checks; (g) wire transfers and online or internet transfers; (h) alerts on the account or account holder(s); (i) suspicious activity reports; and (j) account closure documents. (R. p. \_\_\_; Subpoena Duces Tecum.)

This demand encompasses the entirety of Petitioners’ financial lives—personal and business—over a six-year period. Roman’s financial accounts contain records of transactions directly linked to his journalistic activities, including payments to confidential sources, travel expenses for investigative reporting, subscriptions to research databases, and compensation arrangements with media organizations. R. pp. \_\_\_; Aff. of Gregg Roman ¶¶ 12–15.

### **C. The Circuit Court’s Order**

The circuit court's February 5, 2026 Order addressed four motions heard at the November 26, 2025 hearing. R. pp. \_\_\_; Circuit Court order denying motion to quash 3-4. The Order's treatment of Petitioners' motion (Section II) is remarkable for what it does not contain. While the Order does recite the text of §19-11-100(B) and references the *Decker* three-prong test, it makes no factual findings under any prong. It contains no discussion of Roman's status as a journalist; no discussion of the nature of the records sought; no consideration of alternative means of obtaining the information; no weighing of the competing interests; and no explanation of why Respondents had met the "clear and convincing evidence" standard. The entire substantive ruling consists of a single paragraph. R. pp. \_\_\_; Circuit Court order denying motion to quash 3-4.

The Order also contains multiple errors that undermine confidence in the court's engagement with the motion: (1) it mischaracterizes the motion as concerning "a Subpoena issued by the Plaintiff's for his deposition testimony" when it concerned financial records; (2) it misspells Petitioner's name as "Greg Romans"; and (3) it recites that Petitioners' counsel was "present and appearing" when counsel was not present at the hearing. R. p. \_\_\_; Circuit Court order denying motion to quash 3-4. On February 11, 2026, Petitioners filed a motion to reconsider the Circuit Court order denying the motion to quash and for a protective order. R. p. \_\_\_; Petitioners motion to reconsider with exhibits. On March 16, 2026, the Circuit Court issued its order denying the motion to reconsider the denial of the motion to quash finding that "the motion does not present any newly discovered evidence, manifest errors of law or fact, or an intervening change in controlling law that would warrant relief under SCRCF Rule 59(e)." R. p. \_\_\_; Circuit Court order denying motion to reconsider 1-2.

#### **D. The Wartime Context and Irreparable Harm**

The urgency of this matter is compounded by current geopolitical circumstances. Roman has resided near Tel Aviv, Israel since approximately June 2025, and since February 28, 2026 has been living in the vicinity of an active military campaign. R. p. \_\_\_; Roman Resp., Ex. B (Aff. of Gregg Roman ¶ 7). He maintains confidential source relationships with individuals in conflict zones, including sources in Syria and Iran whose identities would be compromised by the disclosure of financial transaction records. R. pp. \_\_\_; Aff. of Gregg Roman ¶¶ 12–15; Roman Resp., Ex. B (Aff. of Gregg Roman ¶¶ 9–10).

Roman’s supplemental Affidavit provides specific detail about the nature of this harm. His financial records reveal, at a granular level, the sources and methods employed in his investigative journalism—including payments to confidential sources, travel to conflict zones, subscriptions to specialized intelligence databases, and expenditures related to the Iranian Starlink distribution operation. R. p. \_\_\_; Roman Resp., Ex. B (Aff. of Gregg Roman ¶ 9). GSS’s records are further constrained by binding non-disclosure agreements with clients and vendors, many of whom engaged GSS precisely because of the confidentiality inherent in the relationship. R. p. \_\_\_; Roman Resp., Ex. B (Aff. of Gregg Roman ¶ 8). Compelled production would breach these contractual obligations and jeopardize both confidential journalistic sources and the protected professional relationships upon which Roman’s work depends.

Roman further attests that he was denied any meaningful opportunity to be heard before the circuit court denied his Motion to Quash—an assertion consistent with the undisputed record establishing that his counsel was absent from the November 26, 2025 hearing. R. p. \_\_\_; Roman Resp., Ex. B (Aff. of Gregg Roman ¶ 12.) He also attests that the information Respondents seek is available through alternative means, specifically through discovery of PISG, which as a named

defendant is subject to full party discovery and whose own records would reflect any financial relationship with Roman or GSS. R. p. \_\_\_; Roman Resp., Ex. B (Aff. of Gregg Roman ¶ 11).

### **E. The Defendants' Parallel Deposition Subpoena and Contempt Proceedings**

While Petitioners' appeal of the PNC Bank records subpoena is pending before this Court, Defendants Fratoddi, Rosado, and Private Investigation Services Group (hereafter "PISG") have pursued a separate attempt to compel Roman's deposition testimony in the circuit court—also without complying with shield law requirements, proper service, or due process. The following facts are drawn from the defendants' own Motion for Rule to Show Cause filed March 23, 2026, and its Exhibits A through E, as well as Roman's Response filed May 13, 2026, and its Exhibits A and B. R. pp. \_\_\_; PISG motion for rule to show cause with exhibits 1-3; R. pp \_\_\_; Roman Response to Rule with exhibits 1-6.

On November 11, 2025, John M. Grantland of Murphy & Grantland, P.A., counsel for Fratoddi, Rosado, and PISG (hereafter "Defendants"), mailed a subpoena commanding Roman's deposition to 144 N. Narberth Ave, Apt 442, Narberth, PA 19072. R. pp. \_\_\_; Defs.' Mot. for Rule to Show Cause, Ex. A (cover letter and subpoena) 1-8. The subpoena commanded appearance at Chartwell Law, 130 N. 18th Street, Suite 1200, Philadelphia, PA 19103, on December 11, 2025 at 10:00 a.m. R. p. \_\_\_; Defs.' Mot. for Rule to Show Cause, Ex. A (cover letter and subpoena) 8. The Proof of Service form attached to the subpoena is blank—no date of service, no manner of service, and no server signature are recorded. R. p. \_\_\_; Defs.' Mot. for Rule to Show Cause, Ex. A (cover letter and subpoena) 8. The form affirmatively indicates that witness fees and mileage

were not tendered. R. p. \_\_\_; Defs.' Mot. for Rule to Show Cause, Ex. A (cover letter and subpoena) 8.

The address to which the subpoena was mailed—144 N. Narberth Ave, Apt 442, Narberth, PA 19072—is a United States Post Office, not Roman's residence. R. p. \_\_\_; Roman Resp. to Defs.' Mot. for Rule to Show Cause, Ex. A (USPS.com printout confirming 144 N Narberth Ave, Narberth, PA 19072 is a Post Office location) .

On December 5, 2025, defendants' agent attempted service at the Middle East Forum's office; Roman's counsel Scott Sholder of Cowan DeBaets Abrahams & Sheppard LLP objected to service. R. p. \_\_\_; Defs.' Mot. for Rule to Show Cause 1; R. p. \_\_\_; Defs.' Mot. for Rule to Show Cause Ex. B (McLaughlin letter referencing Sholder's December 9, 2025 letter regarding deficient service) 1-5. On December 29, 2025, defendants' process server attempted service at the same Narberth, Pennsylvania address, purportedly serving Roman's "wife"—but Roman and his wife had resided in Israel since June 2025 and maintained no residential property in Pennsylvania. R. pp. \_\_\_ : Defs.' Mot. for Rule to Show Cause, Ex. B (McLaughlin letter at 1–2, stating Roman and wife moved to Israel in June 2025 and do not own, rent, or occupy residential property in Pennsylvania.)

On January 6, 2026, Arianna K. McLaughlin of Cozen O'Connor sent a detailed four-page letter to J. Grant Stringham of Chartwell Law identifying five independent grounds precluding the deposition: (1) defective service—wrong location, unauthorized person served, no witness fees tendered per Pa.R.C.P. 234.2(c) and Pa.R.C.P. 4007.1(a); (2) lack of personal jurisdiction over Roman in Pennsylvania—Roman lives and works in Israel, not Pennsylvania; (3) undue burden—compelling testimony would require 14+ hours of international travel each way, and Roman is

subject to IDF reserve call-up; (4) the Pennsylvania Shield Law (42 Pa. Const. Stat. § 5942) provides absolute protection with no exceptions for civil litigation; and (5) the First Amendment reporter's privilege. R. p. \_\_\_\_; Defs.' Mot. for Rule to Show Cause, Ex. B (McLaughlin letter of Jan. 6, 2026).

On January 8, 2026, Stringham responded by email, characterizing Roman's retention of counsel as evidence of "continued conspiracy and fraudulent activity" and demanding Roman's home address. R. p. \_\_\_\_; Defs.' Mot. for Rule to Show Cause, Ex. C (Stringham email of Jan. 8, 2026). McLaughlin replied the same day, rebutting each point and noting that threatening criminal process against a non-party journalist who was never validly served may violate Pennsylvania Rule of Professional Conduct 4.4 and South Carolina Rule of Professional Conduct 4.5. R. p. \_\_\_\_; Defs.' Mot. for Rule to Show Cause, Ex. C (McLaughlin response of Jan. 8, 2026).

On February 13, 2026, Grantland emailed Taylor Smith—Petitioners' South Carolina counsel who had appeared before Judge Kelly to file a Motion to Reconsider regarding the PNC Bank subpoena—asserting that because Smith had "appeared for Gregg Roman," defendants were serving him with a deposition notice for Roman. R. p. \_\_\_\_; Defs.' Mot. for Rule to Show Cause, Ex. E (Grantland email of Feb. 13, 2026). Grantland's email conflated two distinct proceedings: Smith's appearance on behalf of Roman and Gravitas regarding the bank records subpoena did not constitute acceptance of service for a deposition subpoena by different parties. (Id.) On February 16, 2026, defendants served an Amended Notice of Deposition on Smith scheduling Roman's deposition for February 26, 2026 at Chartwell Law, Philadelphia. R. p. \_\_\_\_; Defs.' Mot. for Rule to Show Cause, Ex. D.)

On February 25, 2026, Smith responded that neither Roman nor Gravitass would be available for deposition, that Smith lacked authority to accept service of process for deposition, and that he had not been informed of personal service upon Roman. R. p. \_\_\_; Defs.' Mot. for Rule to Show Cause, Ex. E (Smith email of Feb. 25, 2026).

On March 23, 2026, defendants filed their Motion for Rule to Show Cause in the circuit court, seeking an order requiring Roman to appear and demonstrate why he should not be held in contempt for failure to respond to a "properly issued and served subpoena." R. p. \_\_\_; Defs.' Mot. for Rule to Show Cause at 2. The motion contains no affidavit of personal service on Roman, no analysis under §19-11-100, and no mention of the Pennsylvania Shield Law. (Id.)

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