RECEIVED

Jun 22 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

ORIGINAL JURISDICTION

Hampton County Court of Common Pleas
R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2026-000713
Circuit Court Case No. 2021-CP-25-00392

Renee S. Beach, Phillip Beach, Robin Beach,
Savannah Tuten, and Seth Tuten, Respondents,

v.

Gregory M. Parker, Gregory M. Parker, Inc. d/b/a Parker's Corporation,
Blake Greco and Jason D'Cruz, Vicky Ward, Max Fratoddi,
Henry Rosado, and Private Investigation Services Group, LLC, Defendants,

Ex Parte:
Gregg Roman and Gravitas Solutions, LLC Petitioners,

v.

PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. d/b/a PNC Bank, Renee S. Beach,

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

What Petitioners did in this case was not journalism or newsgathering for public dissemination; Petitioner Roman’s contacts in this matter did not involve “source material” for a story Petitioners were supposedly developing about the corruption rampant in the South Carolina judiciary. Instead, in hiring the Investigators Petitioners were engaged in a private enterprise (in fact, a joint venture with the Defendant Parker as well as the Investigators deemed the “Litigation Mitigation” team) for which they were paid handsomely, using others to assist a party (Defendant

Parker) in litigation by pushing a public narrative about the case and trying to intimidate the Beach family.¹⁴ The Media Shield Law is not as broad as Petitioners maintain, nor should it be. *Cf. State v. Brockmeyer*, 406 S.C. 324, 337 n. 9, 751 S.E.2d 645, 652 n. 9 (2013) (this Court agreed with the trial court that the identity of an anonymous commenter on a television station’s website – not obtained through news-gathering activities – was not “source material” and therefore fell outside the scope of the news media shield law). *See also In re Napp Technologies, Inc. Litigation*, 768 A.2d 274, 280-281 (N.J. Super. 2000) (holding a public relations firm was not protected by New Jersey’s media shield law for gathering information with the intent “to manage the news rather than disseminate it”).

Petitioners received hidden payments in a clandestine effort for propaganda dressed up as legitimate “news.” They were not engaged in gathering and disseminating news in this case. They should not enjoy any privilege under the statute or the First Amendment for their covert activities.

3. For the Public

To meet the threshold requirements under the statute the newsgathering and dissemination must also be “for the public.” *See Castellani v. Scranton Times, L.P.*, 956 A.2d 937 (Penn. 2008) (“the protections recognized in the Shield Law are intended to allow the news

¹⁴ Respondents served discovery on the Parker Defendants in the “Boat Wreck” case and asked about Petitioners, *i.e.*, who they were and what they were doing. Defendants responded that what Petitioners were doing had nothing to do with anything in the case. Through discovery in this case Respondents now know what Petitioners were doing and for whom. Respondents are seeking only those records that connect Petitioners efforts to create the public narrative and discourage the Beach family in the Boat Wreck case (including the dissemination of the photographs of Mallory Beach’s body at the time law enforcement discovered it) to the payments to Demoman in June 2020.

media to serve the public. Indeed, describing the Shield Law’s protections in common evidentiary privilege terms, while the news media may be the ‘holder’ of the protection, the general public is deemed to be the overall beneficiary of the Shield Law’s protections.”)

Even if Petitioners were engaged in “newsgathering,” they were not doing so for dissemination “for the public.” Hiring the Investigators to gather information for a private individual who was a party in litigation so as to create a narrative in that litigation environment, including an assault on one circuit court judge and his family,¹⁵ does not meet the statutory requirement that information gathering be done “for the public.”

4. If the Privilege Applies it Is Qualified

Next, even where news gathering and dissemination activities for the public are established, the privilege is qualified rather than absolute. A party seeking to compel production or testimony must establish by clear and convincing evidence that the privilege has been knowingly waived, or must satisfy the statutory balancing test. Section 19-11-100(B). *Cf. Hartsock v. Goodyear Dunlop Tires North America Ltd.*, 422 S.C. 643, 648 n. 2, 813 S.E.2d 696, 699 n. 2 (2018) (this Court noted that the qualified privilege enjoyed by news media under Section 19-11-100 (A) can be overcome when the requesting party establishes that the privilege was waived or fulfills the stringent balancing test articulated in Section 19-11-100(B)).

Not all inquiries into a reporter’s sources are protected by the statute. *See Matter of*

¹⁵ As part of the scope of the work the Investigators gathered information on Judge Hall, who was presiding over the companion boat wreck case, and Judge Hall’s wife. This included financial records, property records and traffic tickets. They created a complete dossier on Judge Hall and his family while he was presiding over that case.

Decker (Court held the reporter's shield law was not applicable to a case in which disclosure of a reporter's confidential source was sought by the trial court itself, rather than by a party to the underlying proceeding, because the statute requires that the one asserting the privilege not be a party in interest).¹⁶ Assuming the statute applies to provide a privilege, the Media Shield Statute provides further:

(B) The person, company, or other entity may not be compelled to disclose any information or document or produce any item obtained or prepared in the gathering or dissemination of news unless the party seeking to compel the production or testimony establishes by clear and convincing evidence that this privilege has been knowingly waived or that the testimony or production sought:

- (1) is material and relevant to the controversy for which the testimony or production is sought;
- (2) cannot be reasonably obtained by alternative means; and
- (3) is necessary to the proper preparation or presentation of the case of a party seeking the information, document, or item.

S.C. Code Ann. § 19-11-100(B). The privilege is, therefore, not absolute but is qualified and may be overcome as set forth in the statute. *Trial Handbook for South Carolina Lawyers* § 23:15 (5th ed.) (citing *Decker*).

The material Plaintiffs seek involves the bank records tying the wire payments from Defendant Parker to Petitioners as well as the Investigators. Plaintiffs have already established a

¹⁶ Respondents do not concede that a private litigant's payments for editorialized content are, or ever could, reveal source material as those terms are used in Section 19-11-100. This is especially true where Defendant Parker revealed to the Wall Street Journal that he hired Petitioner Roman and utilized him in the effort to control a narrative in Hampton County of judicial corruption and to question the integrity of the family of Mallory Beach.

temporal connection,¹⁷ but because of the manner in which attorney Jason D’Cruz set up the transactions discovery from the Defendants and the Investigators contains a gap in that connection which can only be filled by the records controlled by Petitioners’ bank.¹⁸

5. Even if the Privilege Applies to Petitioner He has Waived It

Finally, assuming Petitioner Roman is a “reporter,” that his activities in this case meet the definition of being “engaged in the gathering and dissemination of news,” and those activities were “for the public,” by entering into the private agreement with Defendant Parker through a series of transactions with others designed to hide the connection, Petitioners have waived any qualified privilege under Section 19-11-100. *Compare In re Venezia*, 922 A.2d 1263, 1271 (N.J. 2007) (“a reporter may lose the sweeping protections of the Shield Law if the reporter abandons the privilege by disseminating information outside of the newsgathering and news reporting process.”). Respondents must have the opportunity to obtain the evidence necessary to complete the chain from Defendant Parker to Petitioners.

In sum, Petitioners’ activities in this case do not meet the threshold requirements either under the Media Shield Statute or the First Amendment for permitting Petitioners to enjoy the

¹⁷ Records from Truist Bank reveal one wire payment for \$143,000 was made on June 1, 2020, the same day Petitioner Roman entered into the agreement with the Investigators. The remaining payments were made on July 1, 2020 (\$120,000) and July 30, 2020 (\$120,000).

¹⁸ Plaintiffs would seek it directly from Petitioner but he has deliberately evaded process and cooperation not only with Plaintiffs but with the Investigators. Furthermore, Petitioner would raise the same spurious claims to protection under the Media Shield Statute or the First Amendment that he has raised in this matter before this Court.

protections against production of the information Respondents (and the Investigators) seek. The Court should deny the relief and remit this matter to Judge Kelly for him to proceed with the case.

III. PETITIONERS' CLAIM OF A LACK OF NOTICE IS BASELESS

Petitioners contend that Judge Kelly should not have addressed the pending motion to quash because there was no notice that the motion was before the court, and further there was no evidence in opposition to the submissions Petitioners filed in support of the motion. They contend it was improper for Judge Kelly to take the motion up and rule upon it. The Court should reject these contentions.

First, Petitioners made these precise arguments to Judge Kelly. See Exhibit C to the Petition (Motion for Reconsideration and attachments). Judge Kelly considered the arguments and rejected them. Also, Exhibit A to the motion for reconsideration contains the email threads placing all parties and non-parties (including Petitioners through their counsel) on notice that Judge Kelly intended to schedule a hearing to take up *all* outstanding motions. Although Petitioners' counsel did not specifically request that the motion to quash be heard, Petitioners' counsel did not respond to numerous specific inquiries (emails and phone calls) from Judge Kelly's law clerk as to why counsel was not present at the hearing. The law clerk informed Judge Kelly that despite reaching out to counsel for Petitioners and leaving messages there was no response. Petitioners chose to stay away from the hearing without advising the Court that neither Petitioners nor their counsel intended to attend the hearing.

Even so, Petitioners' motion and memorandum was served and filed and was before the

Court. Petitioners fully briefed all of the arguments before Judge Kelly. Unless a rule specifically requires a hearing, a circuit court judge may decide a motion without oral argument. *Compare Re Civil Motions Pilot Program*, 414 S.C. 162, 777 S.E.2d 546 (2015) (“the trial court may grant oral argument in its discretion or may rule without further notice on the written filings without scheduling oral argument. Oral argument shall be had on all dispositive motions unless the parties agree that no such argument is necessary”).

Petitioner cites to *Dedes v. Strickland*, 307 S.C. 152, 414 S.E.2d 132 (1992) in support of his contention that Rule 6(d), SCRCF, mandated a hearing and ten (10) days’ specific notice. (Brief of Petitioner, pp. 19-20). The Court should not be persuaded.

First, Petitioners’ counsel had notice that Judge Kelly intended to take up all outstanding motions at the hearing. If counsel wanted clarity he could have responded to Judge Kelly’s law clerk as to whether oral argument would be held on Petitioners’ motion to quash. Counsel did not do so. Instead, he remained silent in the face of notice that all pending motions would be taken up at the hearing.

Second, nothing in the Rules of Civil Procedure mandated a hearing on the motion to quash a subpoena. Instead, once there is an objection to a subpoena the court may quash or modify the subpoena. Rule 45(c)(3)(A), SCRCF. Nothing in Rule 45 mandates a hearing with oral argument on any objection to a subpoena.

Due process assumes someone was denied an appropriate opportunity to be heard. Petitioner was heard through his written filings and given notice of the hearing. The *Dedes* case, which involved a dispositive summary judgment motion, did not mandate a hearing on Petitioner’s motion to quash a subpoena. The Court should reject this argument.

IV. THERE IS NO “PATTERN OF SHIELD LAW VIOLATIONS” IN THIS CASE

Petitioners assert there has been “more than an isolated procedural irregularity” regarding efforts by Respondents to obtain information from him as well as the Investigators join him as a party. (Br. Pp. 29-31). The Court should not be persuaded by Petitioners’ arguments.

First, these arguments presume the Media Shield Statute applies to Petitioner Roman in this situation. As argued above it does not. Thus, there was no reason for Judge Kelly to perform the three-part test found in Section 19-11-100(B).

Second, the Investigators (Petitioners’ counsel’s other clients in this case) properly domesticated their subpoena under the UIDDA and as well served notice upon Petitioners’ counsel for the deposition. *Compare* Rule 5(b)(1), SCRCP (requiring service upon a party represented by an attorney to “be made upon the attorney unless service upon the party himself is ordered by the court”). Although Petitioner Roman is not a party service of a notice of deposition upon his attorney was effective.

Petitioners also contend the Pennsylvania Shield Law provided them independent protection from the discovery or deposition. (Br. pp. 32). The Court should not find Petitioners’ argument persuasive.

The Pennsylvania Shield Law “was enacted to protect the free flow of information to the news media in their role as information providers to the general public.” *Castellani v. Scranton Times, L.P.*, 956 A.2d 937, 951 (Penn. 2008). The privilege protects the media from revealing source information, but that protection is not absolute. *Compare Hatchard v. Westinghouse Broadcasting Co.*, 532 A.2d 346 (Penn. 1987) (Pennsylvania Supreme Court held “unpublished documentary information gathered by a television station is discoverable by a plaintiff in a libel

action to the extent that the documentary information does not reveal the identity of a personal source of information or may be redacted to eliminate the revelation of a personal source of information”). Where the individual falls outside the category of “news media in their role as information providers to the general public” (as Petitioner Roman does in this case), the Pennsylvania law offers him no protection.

Lastly, Petitioners contend sanctions should flow against counsel for the Investigators as well as counsel in Pennsylvania. Petitioner cites to Rule 4.5, RPC and well as Rule 4.4, RPC, and further claims these efforts to obtain information amount to “frivolous motions and discovery abuse.” (Br. Pp. 34-35).¹⁹ The Court should reject these assertions.

As noted, all of Petitioners’ arguments assume Petitioner Roman is protected by the Shield statutes in South Carolina and in Pennsylvania for the activities he undertook in this case. The plain language of the South Carolina statute and the Pennsylvania Supreme Court’s interpretation of the Pennsylvania statute say otherwise. There has been no pattern of shield law

¹⁹ It is ironic that Counsel for Petitioners raises potential violations of the Rules of Professional Conduct in the Brief. Counsel appeared on behalf of the Investigators early on in this litigation. On January 13, 2022, he co-signed a Motion to Dismiss; on February 22, 2022, he co-signed an Answer; and on August 25, 2022, he co-signed a Motion for Summary Judgment, all on behalf of the Investigators/Defendants. See *Ex parte Strom*, 343 S.C. 257, 263-264, 539 S.E.2d 699, 702 (2000) (“Once an attorney has made a formal appearance and becomes attorney of record in an action, withdrawal can only be accomplished by order of the court.”). He now represents Petitioners in the same or substantially related matter and seeks sanctions against his own current/former clients – he does so without their informed consent. See Rule 1.9(a), RPC, Rule 407, SCACR. In fact, at a hearing before Judge Kelly in York County on May 15, 2026, Petitioners’ counsel stood up, acknowledged he was still counsel of record for the Investigators, and requested Judge Kelly relieve him as counsel for the Investigators so that he could then argue the sanctions motion against the Investigators on behalf of Petitioners, which he proceeded to do. Counsel had consent to withdraw as counsel for the Investigators but did not have their consent to then proceed against them in this same matter.

violations in this case.

The Court should dismiss this Petition as improvidently granted and remand this matter to Judge Kelly to proceed with the litigation.

V. ALTERNATIVELY, THE COURT SHOULD REFER THIS MATTER TO A REFEREE FOR AN INITIAL RULING

Assuming the Court accepts Petitioner Roman's unsupported claim that he is entitled to protection under the Media Shield Statute or the First Amendment for the activities on behalf of a private party to a lawsuit, the Court should refer this matter for an evidentiary hearing.

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